PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING
City Council Chambers
3600 Kirchoff Rd.
Rolling Meadows, IL 60008
Tuesday, May 3, 2022
7:00 p.m.
AGENDA
Call to Order
Roll Call/Declaration of a Quorum: Buckingham, Chubirka, Duvall, L. Morrison, S. Morrison,
Sheehan, Sipple
Approval of Minutes: April 5, 2022 Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting
Pending Business: NONE
New Business – (New Public Hearings):
1. Public hearing and consideration of a petition for a special use pursuant to Section 122-301(3)
of the City of Rolling Meadows Zoning Code of Ordinances to allow an “Indoor Athletic Facility”
for an indoor soccer training facility, a variation from Section 122-163 from the City of Rolling
Meadows Code of Ordinances to reduce the required number of parking spaces for an Indoor
Athletic Facility from the approximately 59 parking spaces required to 21 parking spaces, and
other relief necessary to accommodate the indoor soccer field, in an M-1 Zoning District, 3660
Edison Place, Legion, Inc, Petitioner
Discussion Items:
Reports: Update of on-going projects, cases, and issues.
Next Meeting: Tuesday, June 7, 2022 at 7:00 pm
Motion to Adjourn

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING
City Council Chambers
3600 Kirchoff Rd.
Rolling Meadows, IL 60008
Tuesday, April 5, 2022
7:00 p.m.
MINUTES
Call to Order
Chairman Duvall called the April 5, 2022 regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission to order at
7:01 p.m.
Roll Call/Declaration of a Quorum:
Presiding: Chairman Duvall
Present: Buckingham, Chubirka, Sheehan, S. Morrison, Duvall
Absent: L. Morrison, Sipple
Also Present: JoEllen Charlton, Assistant Director of Public Works, Elizabeth Kwandras, and Interim
Superintendent of Community Development, Vickie Wiley, Community Development, and Martha Corner,
Business Advocate.
Chairman Duvall declared a quorum
Approval of Minutes: March 1, 2022 Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting
Chairman Duvall asked for a motion to approve the minutes from the March 1, 2021 Planning and Zoning
Commission meeting. Commissioner Chiburka made a motion to approve the minutes as written, which was
seconded by Commissioner S. Morrison.
Motion carried by unanimous voice vote. Minutes approved as written.

Pending Business: None
New Business – (New Public Hearings):
1. Public hearing and consideration of a petition for a special use pursuant to Section 122-301(3)
of the City of Rolling Meadows Zoning Code of Ordinances to allow an “Indoor Athletic
Facility” for an indoor soccer training facility, a variation from Section 122-163 from the City of
Rolling Meadows Code of Ordinances to reduce the required number of parking spaces for an
Indoor Athletic Facility from the approximately 59 parking spaces required to 21 parking
spaces, and other relief necessary to accommodate the indoor soccer field, in an M-1 Zoning
District, 3660 Edison Place, Legion, Inc, Petitioner
Open Public Hearing:
Chairman Duvall asked if proper notice was give, and if the file was in order. Ms. Kwandras stated that the file
is in order but proper notice was not given.
Ms. Charlton: Because the hearing wasn’t properly noticed, they will need to provide new notice for a new
hearing. It does not make sense to continue this particular hearing. We will skip this item and it will be renoticed for the next meeting.
2. Public hearing and consideration of a petition for a special use pursuant to Section 122-301(3)
of the City of Rolling Meadows Zoning Code of Ordinances to allow a private Montessori
school, and other relief necessary to accommodate the Montessori School, in an R-2 Zoning
District, 2720 Kirchoff Road, Janis Smith, Still Waters Preschool Co-op and Educational
Services, Petitioner.
Chairman Duvall asked if proper notice was give, and if the file was in order. Ms. Kwandras stated that the file
is in order and proper notice was given.
Commissioner Buckingham made a motion, by which Commissioner Chiburka seconded.
Motion carried by a unanimous voice vote.
Open Public Hearing:
Chairman Duvall swore in Ms. Janice Smith
Petitioners Presentation:
Janice Smith, I am the primary teacher as well as the President of the Board for a non-profit, Still Waters
Preschool Co-op and Educational Services.
We are looking forward to this opportunity to reestablish our preschool. We started in 2006 at a church
located in Chicago and we were there for 11 years. We were told with a year notice that they needed that
space for something else and we found another location in Forest Park that we could move to. We attempted
to start our preschool at this location, but we had a lot of things against us and then Covid hit in the middle of
that. We were trying to make our promotions and we couldn’t anymore. When we were finally coming out of
Covid, that church also decided that they were going to reuse that room for a different purpose. We have not
been in operation since the end of 2018, when we lost our space. I’m a member of Christ the Covenant

Church Chicago that meets in the Community Church of Rolling Meadows and I’m also the Sunday school
teacher. At the time we lost our facility in Forest Park, I asked if I could move my Bible teaching materials to
the classroom that we were using at Rolling Meadows and my church said yes, that would be great. I then
thought about what am I going to do with the preschool? I am extremely healthy, I have a fair amount of
energy and I have a lot of teaching materials. I thought I should try and so I approached the Community
Church, they cleaned out a room right next to our Sunday school room and there is a door between the two
rooms. To me that is an ideal place because I will have access to not only my Bible teaching materials, but also
the Montessori things. I have set it up so that people can see what it’s like. I conducted some sample classes
for some of the young families at my church to see what interest level there was. I knew the families, but they
had never seen my classroom. They have become quite impressed by that, but we discovered that we need to
go through this process first. I was informed that I should not continue the sample classes there and so we
have not. The parents have been so excited about having the possibilities of this shared community, for this
small classroom that we are now rotating through the parents homes and meeting once a week. I gather
some things from the classroom and take it to various places. This is all in hopes of trying to establish this
preschool and have a small group in operation so we can invite people in to see what happens here in Rolling
Meadows. That is what we are requesting this special use for because that is a requirement of Rolling
Meadows. We are looking forward to this and our name Still Waters comes from Psalm 23:2, The Lord is my
Shepard, and he leads me beside still waters. The vision of the still waters being in the rolling meadows, not
just the green pastures, was a delightful picture to me and an encouragement to all of us, yet we still need to
know from you if it is okay with you for us to go ahead with this plan.
QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS FROM THE BOARD:
Ms. S. Morrison: How many children can you accommodate?
Ms. Smith: I think 12 and right now I don’t think we have more than 4 gathering together.
Ms. S. Morrison: The Church was chosen because there is a Sunday school there?
Ms. Smith: There is a lot of sharing going back in forth, so if I need to move an extra table in I can just grab it
out of another room. It makes it really convenient for me even though I would have two rooms which have
materials that are mine, it is still not all the things I have.
Ms. S. Morrison: I’m assuming the facilities are geared for children?
Ms. Smith - Because I have my own cabinets and things, it basically is fine.
Ms. S. Morrison: Restrooms?
Ms. Smith: Restrooms are at the end of the hall, but it is okay and we will manage that in a way that helps
them be responsible, but have adult supervision to be sure that everyone is using that facility in an
appropriate way.
Mr. Duvall: Thank you. Any other questions or comments?
Mr. Buckingham: Are your families mostly through the church?
Ms. Smith: Right now they are through the church because they are the people that know me. To come to a
program where you don’t know anyone and not being able to see it in operation, people really need to come
and see me carrying out the program and see the materials and the care that I take. Right now it’s only people

that know me through the Sunday school and we have one family who is on a mom’s group on Facebook that
came. Our goal is to have anyone who is interested in a Christian Montessori influenced preschool program
that is a parent participation program, where the parents stay on site. All those things are required for how
we operate.
Ms. S. Morrison: Do you meet every day or once a week?
Ms. Smith: Right now we are meeting once a week in homes. In the past we have met 2 days a week.
Because we want to encourage parents to participate and be involved with their children, they have to be on
site for insurance purposes. It is not really convenient for people to not be there for more than 2 days, but we
have a unique part of our program that is probably almost unheard of. Parents who are committed to us can
check out materials that includes the lovely Montessori materials that we have. They can check it out to
utilize it in their homes. Some of these families will be home schooling. We encourage them to be involved in
their children’s education and this is a first opportunity for them, wherever they go after that is their choice.
Chairman Duvall requested staff report
Staff Report Highlights:
The property in question is located is one that we are all familiar with located at the Community Church of
Rolling Meadows. They were here a few months ago to get a variation for their sign and a text amendment a
couple of months before that. The property is zoned R-2, with R-2 single family homes to the north and east,
and C-2 properties to the south (the former Taco Bell and Meadow Square commercial lots) and west (Rolling
Meadows Shopping Center).
The petitioner has been running the Still Waters Montessori School since 2006 and are now looking to make
their home here in Rolling Meadows. The school is planning to use several rooms in the east wing. Initially
they planned to run it twice per week, on Tuesdays and Thursdays and as the program grows potentially
expanding to up to four times per week. The maximum number of families that can be accommodated at any
one time would be 12 (12 students). My understanding of the program would be some students would come
on Tuesdays and Thursdays and the others on the other two days.
The Community Church parking lot is extremely large, containing over 100 parking spaces with little to no use
during the week. The lot is well-maintained, and hosts many larger events throughout the year, including
Cornfest and City Markets. It is unlikely that actual parking will exceed 15 and there is ample space for them to
be accommodated. To staff’s knowledge, no other activities or events are occurring at the same time as the
Still Waters preschool so there should be no overlap in parking needs. The Community Church has two
entrances onto Kirchoff, and one onto Meadow. Vehicles arriving or leaving can use any of the three, and will
have less impact on surrounding traffic than typical Sunday church services. No modifications to the building
or lot are required. The rooms will be used as existing, with materials brought in by the petitioner, and stored
on site.
STANDARDS AND FINDINGS OF FACT:
Mr. Chiburka: Is the deviation from the code because it becomes a school now?
Ms. Kwandras: It’s not a deviation from the code. The code allows special uses. We as the City can see in
those areas, but we have to mindful of additional impact and make sure that it is going into the right places
with the right modifications. In this case it is a school use, so that does qualify it as a special use, it’s not

directly associated with the church, that’s a separate entity, so that is why it has to go through the special use
process.
Mr. Chiburka: If the school was to expand, would they have to come back?
Ms. Kwandras: No, the special use would take into consideration the fact that they might expand in the
future.
Mr. Buckingham: Does the church have its own special use or are they grandfathered?
Ms. Kwandras: I believe they are legal, non-conforming. I don’t think they needed a special use when they
came in, but they would now under the current code.
Mr. Buckingham: Because it’s a different entity?
Ms. Kwandras: Yes
Mr. Duvall: There are other churches that are in our zone districts?
Ms. Kwandras: Yes
Ms. S. Morrison: Ms. Smith, this is a nonprofit business though? Does it generate revenue?
Ms. Smith: We are hoping it won’t be all out of my pocket. There are many things we have to find out. We
have to see what the interest level in this particular location.
Mr. Duvall: In your submittal, you described the fact that you basically hatched this idea when you were
approached by the interim pastor of the church.
Ms. Smith: He was the interim pastor that was there for a few months. He was the one who observed me
teaching part of the Sunday school during Covid. The pastor has several children and when they were
preparing for worship, I would be teaching the children so they wouldn’t be under foot and getting into
trouble. I did it in the foyer and that is where he saw me teaching. We entered into the conversation at the
time and I told him of the need.
Mr. Duvall: Is he know the full time pastor?
Ms. Smith: No he is not.
Ms. Smith: I have been working with the Board, Ross Heart.
Ms. Kwandras: One of the requirements that we will we often have if the petitioner doesn’t own the property
that they are going into, is permission from the land lord. In this case, we do have a letter of file from Ross
Heart giving Ms. Smith the permission to operate and apply for the special use.
Mr. Duvall: So the head trustee has authorized this operation regardless of who is pastor.
Ms. Kwandras: Correct
Mr. Duvall: Reflecting on Commissioner Morrison’s comments, do you run a fixed time of day schedule? Your
report said that there is going to be 2 sessions in the morning and I see it as a wonderful use and a well
thought out idea, but as a neighbor, traffic on Meadow Dr. between 8:40-9:00 am is brutal. The users of this
facility are going to have to accept this because 80% of the kids that attend Kimball Hill School get a ride.

Ms. Kwandras: Per the Petitioners materials, the Montessori will be meeting 9:30-12:30 on Tuesdays and
Thursdays, so we are hoping there will be little impact.
Mr. Duvall: Okay
Ms. Smith – I have seen the cars over there and I’ve seen cars cut through the parking lot. I’ve warned the
parents about those kinds of things also. In regards to use of the parking area during the week, the contract
that I have with the Community Church of Rolling Meadows is that should they have something else going on
they will talk to me and then we may have to not hold class if there is an overlap at that time. In the past at
our location at the City, it was a polling place. Whenever there was an election we cancelled preschool for
safety purposes.
Mr. Buckingham: I really liked your letter and congratulations to you on your program. This is a great venue
for this.
Ms. Smith: We get ready for the year not knowing who is going to be involved, but these families enter our
hearts in just a couple of months and so I look forward to not only running the program, but having my heart
expand with the love that we share together.
Mr. Buckingham: Fantastic, thank you again.
Mr. Buckingham made a motion to close the public hearing and Ms. S. Morrison seconded.
5 Yays
Public comment of this meeting is now closed. We are asking the Commission for approve, deny or modify the
request from the Petitioner.
Mr. Chiburka made a motion to approve based on a recommendation to approve Based on the submitted
petition and testimony presented, I make a motion that the Rolling Meadows Planning and Zoning
Commission adopt the findings for a special use listed in the staff report prepared for the April 5, 2022
Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, and recommend to City Council approval of the special use to allow
a private Montessori school for Still Waters Preschool Co-op & Educational Services.
Mr. Buckingham seconded
Roll:
Chiburka
Buckingham
Sheehan
Ms. S. Morrison
Chairman Duvall
5 Yays
0 Nays

Motion is carried and the recommendation to approve will be sent to the Rolling Meadows City Council
Meeting on April 26, 2022 meeting for first reading.
Staff
Ms. Kwandras: Just a couple of things before I turn it over to Ms. Charlton. We are going to be meeting in
May, hopefully 3660 Edison will be back and have proper notice. We might have another petition coming
forward for another church on West Frontage. In addition to that, typically according to the ordinance that
creates and governs the P&ZC, every year the Commission elects this officer. Please give consideration if you
would like to be an officer, there are two main positions, the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman. The May
meeting please check your calendars because Commissioner Sipple will not be able to be here again. Please
check and see if May 3rd is a possibility for everybody and if it’s not, please let me know a.s.a.p. so we can look
for alternate dates so I can make sure the legal notice is appropriate.
Ms. Charlton – Special projects
We are working with Raising Cane at the Bueno Beef site in Market Place of Rolling Meadows Shopping Place.
They were able to rotate the building in a way that makes access to the property a little less cumbersome.
Originally they had it coming from the east, which would have backed onto Golf Rd and we had a lot of
concerns. They were able to address those concerns and are finalizing their plans. We will probably see that
in June.
The gas station on Kirchoff Rd just west of Comet, that is looking to redeveloped the side and add a little
bigger building. They are still going through some preliminary site plans so I don’t think they will be ready in
May.
We are also working with the Fire Haul on the redevelopment/reuse of the fire station property on Meadow.
We did have an open session discussion with Council about that and based on that conversation we are
putting together some bullet points for a draft development agreement that would outline the terms of the
sale and use and try to hone in on all of that conversation that Council is having about “How do we insure the
use?” We don’t want to sell it to them and have it fail and have a vacant building. Particularly because they
are looking for a deal that they would pay less for the property than it’s appraised value so that is considered
sort of an incentive. For that incentive what will the City be able to negotiate in that agreement? We are
working on that with our city’s attorneys pretty closely.
We have nothing from the Holidome. We know they still want to come and keep saying they are going to
submit things, but I still don’t have anything to provide you.
Cannabis: We went through those text amendments and had public hearings and nobody from the public
showed up to comment about the cannabis text amendments, particularly those that were for commercial
cannabis dispensaries, east of New Wilke Rd.
Chairman Duvall: Over in the zoning triangle?
Ms. Charlton: Yes, and when that hit the City Council meetings there was some promotional materials from a
firm out of Texas or Florida that was suggesting Rolling Meadows should scrutinize that and as a result the
elected officials did field a lot of calls with questions and concerns from their constituents. That text
amendment did pass on a 4 to 3 vote, so there were some differences of opinion. I thought that would end
with the dispensary discussion, the following meeting we had your recommendation from the Carnagie Craft

Grower, which you reviewed as a special use pursuant to early text amendments. The use did meet those
standards and you made that recommendation. Some of the elected officials continued to be contacted by
their constituents that no cannabis usage should be considered. In that particular 1st reading we had two
officials absent from the reading. It was approved on 1st reading by a 3 to 2 vote, by the majority of the
people there so it can advance to 2nd reading, but the State’s statute require for anything to be approved
requires not less than 4 votes from the Council. We need to have a full Council there and they would need to
have 4 positive votes before that special use could be approved. That is preceding to Council next Tuesday for
2nd reading. I just wanted everybody to have that information based on that case because I know you all
worked really hard on that.
There are a lot of changes happening in Public Works. We celebrated Bill Suchecki, our Streets
Superintendent, 38 years of service retirement party. He is a lifelong resident of the community and served
the community is several capacities for all of that time.
Rob Horne has announced that he is taking another job in Arlington Heights as there Assistant Director of
Public Works. His last day with the City will be on April 19th. Obviously we are already in the process of trying
to identify, advertise and interview for Bill Suchecki’s position. The City Manager will jump on the opportunity
to start interviewing for the Public Works. We will be very busy in Public Works for 6-9 approximately
accommodating that. What that means for me here at this meeting is you will probably see a lot less of me,
Elizabeth is doing a fantastic job in her role as the Community Development Superintendent. Unless she
needs me here, I will need to take on some more responsibility until the Public Works Directors position is
filled. You can always call me or stop by, I would love to stay involved with all of the business that this group
does, you all do really great work, so thank you.
Commissioner Duvall: I have one question regarding the 3 to 2 Council vote that was on the Carnagie St. grow
facility. There is a for sale sign in front of that building that went up about 3 days ago. Did the 3 to 2 vote
constitute a non-action and will there be two readings on that motion again.
Ms. Charlton - It constitutes an approval of the 1st readying capable of sending it to 2nd reading.
Mr. Duvall – The Council has to have 4 yes votes?
Mr. Chiburka: Is anything happening with the Taco Bell now that they have found the owner?
Ms. Kwandras: It’s a slow process, the owner is aware the property needs to be maintained and that’s really
the only commitment that we’ve gotten out of them. There has been plenty of interest in this site. If you
combine that lot with the other two commercial sites that is in front of Meadows Square, you could do
something really cool there.
Mr. Chiburka: Are they two different owners?
Ms. Kwandras: Yes, but if somebody was to buy all 3 lots and develop them together that could be pretty
cool. As of right now we are not getting a lot of communication with the owner of the former Taco Bell.
Mr. Duvall: I watched the COW meeting, based on what we were going to hear tonight and the request from a
lot of petitioners, it appears that parking is going to become this nonstop issue with anybody trying to
repurpose a site. The question is, is there anything other than just continuing to grant special use issues. I’m
thinking about what could happen with the fire station on Meadow if they actually develop it and it takes off
and becomes popular enough, where are they going to put all the cars?

Ms. Kwandras: That is something that staff is reviewing with the business owners to discuss where that
parking would go. We are hoping it’s successful, so we are looking into different avenues for that. A lot of
these industrial sites that you are seeing were built as industrial which doesn’t include a lot of parking. What
we have to take into consideration is that these buildings are very old and some adaptive reuse of these
buildings is necessary and that requires some creative thinking, which is why we modified the zoning code to
allow for off-site parking arrangements and all of that. Unfortunately, the requirements of the variances are
probably going to go forward unless somebody tears down those buildings. Until that time, as new users
come in, especially in the NW industrial park you’re going to see more of these.
Ms. Charlton: Chairman Duvall is your question more is there a different process?
Mr. Duvall: No, I understand the process, but my point is, is this going to be done on a case by case basis?
Ms. Kwandras: Yes, that is the purpose of this Commission.
Mr. Duvall: Does staff encourage these people reach out to their neighbors and ask if they would be
amendable to this?
Ms. Kwandras: If it is warranted for the use, then yes. The zoning code does not allow for handshake
agreements anymore, so in order for it to count we need something in writing.
Mr. Chiburka: If they brought a shared use agreement to you would they even have to come here?
Ms. Kwandras: It depends, if it was a special use than yes. The zoning code does allow for off-site parking
under certain circumstances to be applied towards the parking requirement administratively.
Ms. Kwandras: Based on their business plan
Ms. Charlton: The other thing I would like to say about shared parking agreements from their perspective
makes a lot of sense too. They are asking an adjoining property owner for long term perpetual agreement
that will allow them to park there as long as they are there. If I’m the owner of that property and I’m thinking
I’m going to be done with this business in 5 years, why would I sign an agreement like that? It would limit my
ability to sell my business or my property because we can’t accept something unless we know they will
continue to have access to it. The other part of it is you just conditioned their occupancy. If the parking goes
away how do we tell that business they can’t operate there anymore. It’s hard to achieve because parking is
very limited over there. Nobody wants to sign away their rights to their parking like we would need them to.
Mr. Duvall: I understand that, it just seems in the last 3 or 4 meetings a question of parking comes up with a
condition of approval for a request.
Ms. Kwandras: What I can tell you Chairman Duvall is that staff does examine various possibilities before we
bring forward a variance request for you. The definition of the variance is the least required amount of relief
from the code.
Ms. Charlton: The other benefit to the fire haul example, because of how they are proposing to phase the
projects, we could actually condition through the development agreement the fact that they couldn’t go to
phase two unless or until they are able to expand or add more parking per the agreement. The Church to the
south expressed concern about losing the ability to keep and maintain their exempt property tax status. We
will continue to work with them and try to come up with some strategies so that if they are successful. Every
parking in Rolling Meadows needs to be able to be accommodated on site because we don’t have off street

parking anywhere. It is a bit of a challenge, but we will try to address those concerns, both for you and your
staff reports and the conditions on the variations as well as the developmental agreement in the case of the
fire haul.
Mr. Duvall: We could put a condition to recommend approval. Would the City ever consider making street
parking an option under certain conditions?
Ms. Charlton: Not to meet the parking requirement in an area where we are already pretty narrow on
industrial streets by industrial standards. There are a lot of curb cuts and a lot of semis that are trying to
maneuver through. The other non-conforming issue we have a lot of up there are the loading docks. You
have to maneuver in the street to back into the dock.
Mr. Buckingham: Are we saying that the third party parking agreements need to be perpetual.
They need to be as long as that use is in existence. The special use shall become null and void unless the
parking that they are providing is maintained or to secure additional off street parking in compliance with the
zoning ordinance.
Ms. S. Morrison: What is the plan for the fire house on Meadow?
Ms. Charlton: A food haul. Think of it as somebody that is selling somebody booth space to various start up
food vendors, once which intends to be Leaky Keg Craft Brewer.

Motion to close public hearing:
Mr. Chiburka made a motion to close the public hearing, seconded by Mr. Buckingham
Motion carried by unanimous vote
Next meeting will be May e @ 7:00 pm.
Adjourned at 7:58 pm.

Respectfully Submitted,

Vickie Wiley
Administrative/Clerk
Community Development Division

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION SUMMARY

MEETING DATE:

May 3, 2022

SUBJECT: Public Hearing and Consideration of a special use pursuant to
Section 122-301(3) of the City of Rolling Meadows Code of Ordinances to
allow an “Indoor Athletic Facility” for an indoor soccer training facility, and
a variation from Section 122-163 from the City of Rolling Meadows Code of
Ordinances to reduce the required number of parking spaces for an Indoor
Athletic Facility from the approximately 44 parking spaces required to 21
parking spaces
PUBLIC HEARING:

[ x ] Yes

[ ] No

LOCATION AND EXISTING ZONING:
The subject property is located at 3660 Edison Place, which is a side street west
of Rohlwing Road and north and east of Carnegie Street. The property is zoned
M-1, consistent with all other properties in the immediate vicinity. The nearest
change in zoning is M-2 along Berdnick Street to the north, and C-2 across
Rohlwing Road for Harvest Bible Church.

1

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND REQUEST:
The subject property consists of 49,287 square feet or 1.13 acres, and contains an
approximately 24,820 square foot building. Building coverage on the lot is at
approximately 50 percent. The applicant intends to use the eastern portion of the
building, as shown below. The building is currently served by eight overhead
loading doors and eight on-site parking spaces. The rear of the property is
adjacent to a self-storage facility to the north.

There are limited building setbacks from the property lines on all sides of the
building. The southeast corner of the building comes within 12 feet of the lot line,
with a bollard in place to protect the building where
the brick is crumbling, as shown in the picture to the
right. This causes some concern for on-site traffic
flow, as it is very narrow to bring a regular
passenger vehicle through, much less an
emergency vehicle. As such, the only way that
traffic flow on site will work for this new use is if
traffic flow is one-way only, counterclockwise.
The requested use is an indoor soccer field. The
primary time for use of the field will be during the fall
and winter months as temperatures fall and young
athletes need warmer places to practice. The
petitioner indicates that the business is designed to
cater to younger non-driving age children, all ages
14 and under. The field will be used as practice only
2

(no competitive games), with a maximum of 20 people on site at any given time,
including two coaches. Operations will be in the evenings and on the weekends.
Each session will be an hour long with at least 30 minutes between sessions to
allow for enough time for each group to come and go, attempting to minimize onsite traffic.
Parents will enter the east driveway, drop off their children on the north side of the
site, and pick them up in the same location. The petitioner has indicated that
coaches will be out helping to direct traffic to keep the flow moving. However, a
concern about queueing still remains, as does concern about where parents will
wait for their children just prior to pick up or when multiple vehicles arrive at the
same time for drop off. In addition, the proposed pickup/drop off location identified
on the plans below in blue blocks two of the parking spaces on the north side,
specifically the handicapped parking spaces. This drop off area can, however, be
easily shifted to the right (east). If a line forms behind the drop off area, parking
spaces will also be blocked.

The applicant is seeking a parking variation. The existing parking count on site is
8, which is consistent with the surrounding industrial area, given buildings were
built and intended for industrial uses, not uses that draw “customers” that require
more parking. Parking requirements for an indoor athletic use, such as this one,
are 5 per 1,000 square feet. The use is proposed to take up 8,636 square feet of
the 24,820 square foot building, which requires 44 parking spaces. The petitioner
is proposing to restripe the site as shown above, providing a total of 20 parking
3

spaces, which is less than half of what is required for this use alone, and does not
account for the west half of the building. Per the applicant’s description, the only
cars that will be on site for any length of time are those of the coaches. Parents
will be expected to drop their children off and pick them up later. No participants
of legal driving age will be part of this program. Parents will not be allowed to stay
and watch the practices. This variance would be authorized only in conjunction
with the applicant’s occupancy of the eastern 8,636 square feet. The western half
of the building, along with rooms proposed to be left unused on the eastern half,
will need to remain vacant unless further parking relief is authorized by the City.
The applicant does not have any current plans for the space to be occupied or to
expand into the western portion of the building at this time.
The petitioner’s business is proposed to run only during the colder months, and
only in the evenings and weekends, from 4:30 to 9:30 pm during the week, and
from 9:00 am to 12:00 noon on the weekends. While this should provide little
conflict with most business hours in the area, staff has some concern about traffic
flow to and from the site conflicting with evening semi- and other large vehicle
deliveries to other businesses in the area, particularly given the streets in the area
are not equipped with street lights.
Green space on the property is limited to an area in the front of the building. The
rest of the lot is completely covered in asphalt or by the building. This lot line to
lot line coverage is typical of the area, but has unfortunately resulted in drainage
problems throughout the Northwest Industrial Park. Other special uses in the area
have been authorized only after conditions of adding more green space, or
otherwise enhancing drainage. Due to the size of the building, as well as traffic
flow and parking concerns, there is not room for the petitioner to increase
landscaping or storm water management on site in any significant manner.

As previously noted, there are eight (8) overhead doors on site. Four (4) of them
are located on the east side of the building (as shown above), and enter directly
into the east half of the building where the new use will be located. Two (2) others
are also located on an east elevation (recessed), but lead into the west half of the
building. One of the remaining two overhead doors is on the north elevation of the
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building, and the final one is on the south elevation, with a
ramp opening onto Edison Place as shown in the image to
the right.
Note that the ramp on the south elevation that has direct
access to Edison is depressed from street grade level down
to the building. This depressed dock parallels and adjoins
the driveway on the west side of the property, which is
intended to be used as the exit point for the proposed oneway traffic flow. In addition to being a safety hazard for
exiting traffic (especially when covered by snow in the
winter), the existing overhead door and loading dock are
also non-conforming with current zoning code because access into the dock
requires trucks to maneuver in the street, as opposed to on their own property.
This is an example of a non-conformity that staff typically looks to remove when
possible as part of special use approvals, particularly when the special use does
not rely on a loading dock feature as part of its business plan.
It was originally staff’s recommendation that the overhead door and depressed
dock that provides direct access to Edison on the south elevation be removed and
restored with green space. Given the limited operation intended by the applicant,
however, they wished to avoid that expense given that it leads to a portion of the
building they do not intend to use. At a minimum, if the depressed loading dock
and overhead door is allowed to remain, staff is recommending the hazard created
by allowing it to remain be mitigated with bollards or other protective devices as
approved by the City Engineer.
Of the six (6) doors on the east side of the building, the petitioner is proposing to
remove four (4) of them, as seen on the previous page, and shown below. The
applicant’s submittal requests approval that the three doors identified in the image
below with arrows be allowed to remain. All of these doors, however, directly
conflict with the proposed student drop off and/or handicapped parking on the north
side of the property, as shown in the proposed site plan on Page 3. Staff is
recommending adding a condition requiring these three additional overhead doors
be removed to eliminate the conflict with their proposed handicapped parking and
drop-off areas.
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View from the northeast, showing seven (7) overhead doors:

The City’s adopted building codes define the proposed indoor athletic facility as a
“change in use” from a “manufacturing/industrial” use to an “assembly” use. As
such, occupancy of the building will require upgrades to and inside the building
that would not otherwise be required if the building were to remain a
manufacturing/industrial use. These upgrades may include, but are not limited to,
mechanical upgrades, bathrooms, and modifications to the fire protection systems.
These requirements are not evaluated as part of the special use and zoning
approval process, but are typically communicated to the applicant to ensure they
are aware of these potentially extensive improvements and expenses.
PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS:
Parking and Circulation Requirements/Parking Lot Improvements.
As previously noted, the existing site contains a total of eight (8) parking spaces
along the east property line of the site. The petitioner is proposing to utilize a oneway, counterclockwise traffic flow around the building, and to add more parking by
removing the four overhead doors on the east elevation, which allows angled
parking spaces on both sides of the one-way drive aisle. The applicant also
proposed additional parking spaces on the north side of the building, but unlike the
east elevation, the applicant does not wish to remove the overhead doors in that
area, creating conflicts between the proposed parking spaces, the doors, and the
proposed drop off area. Staff recommends either the overhead doors be
eliminated, or if they remain, the parking be eliminated, which would require a
greater parking variation. Staff is also concerned that the location of the proposed
handicapped parking spaces may be flagged during the building permit review, as
they are required to be the “closest accessible spaces to the ‘main’ entrance. That
determination will have to be made during permit application process.
As
proposed by the applicant, the design allows for an increase in the number of
parking spaces from 8 to 20, including 2 handicapped spaces on the north end of
the property.
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The remaining lane space between the two
parking rows proposed is eighteen feet, which is
reduced to less than 18’ on the north side of the
building, and about 14’ on the west side of the
building. Note from the applicant’s site plan
(shown on Page 3), that the dimensions do not
provide adequate room for an emergency
vehicle to circulate completely around the
building. Rather, the turning diagrams suggest
that emergency vehicles must perform a three
point turn on the north end of the property and
exit the wrong way back through the proposed
one-way circulation system. This would not be
ideal if the parking spaces were at full capacity
and parents were staged in the parking lot drive
aisles waiting to pick up their children. The only
possibility for this to work would be if designated
parking spaces were limited only to staff and coaches, and the lot was managed
to minimize the time cars were on the lot for drop offs and pick-ups.
Note that the one-way circulation is intended to be managed with the addition of
directional signage. These signs will include a new one-way sign near the
southeast corner of the building, a “Do Not Enter” sign by the west entrance, and
a sign indicating the pickup/drop off area.
Aside from the striping and other directional painting, no other site improvements
are proposed. As previously noted, the existing depressed ramp and dock on the
southwest corner of the building are proposed to remain, which staff recommends
be allowed only if safety bollards or fencing is installed to mitigate the possibility
that exiting cars could drive off the curb into the depressed dock area.
Staff also notes that the existing asphalt in the parking lot is crumbling and in
generally very poor condition, as seen in the picture to the left. Staff recommends
that the asphalt be required to be removed and replaced before it is restriped.
The proposed number of parking spaces does not meet zoning requirements for
this use, and the petitioner is requesting a variation to reduce required parking from
the required 44 parking spaces to 20. The parking requirement would be even
higher than 44 if/when there is a desire to occupy the western half of the building
or the rest of the eastern portion.
The petitioner has indicated that there will not be many cars on site for any of the
training sessions, as participants are limited to 14 and under; the number of
coaches and staff and athletes on site at any given time are limited to 20; and that
parents will not be permitted to attend or watch training sessions, and will be
discouraged from waiting on site. If managed properly, the scenario could work,
but it is a lot to expect for coaches to be responsible for both training the kids
7

indoors, and managing the site outdoors. It is likely
that the waiting parents will use the parking spaces
on site and/or line up in the drive aisle during practice.
The petitioner is planning to have 30 minutes
between scheduled sessions, but this does leave
some time for overlap, especially if a parent comes to
drop off their child early. Vehicles in the parking
spaces or earlier in the line will have to wait until the
traffic clears, as there is not enough room at any point
in the on-site circulation for two vehicles to be sideby-side or to pass. Even if the coaches are
successful in limiting waiting parents on-site, parents
may instead choose to line up on the street, which
could cause circulation problems for semis and other
industrial truck traffic in the area.
Other exterior modifications.
There are currently eight (8) overhead doors on site. Per the petitioner’s submitted
information, four (4) of them will be removed and filled with building material. Of
the four remaining, one is on the south elevation of the building. While staff prefers
it be removed, it could remain if safety measures are installed to prevent exiting
vehicles from accidentally falling into the depressed loading dock.
The last three overhead doors are all on the northeast corner of the building, and
all three open into the new parking and pickup/drop off area. Staff recommends a
condition requiring these three doors also be removed, that the parking in this area
be moved to the east and out of conflict with the doors, or that the parking be
removed, requiring a greater variance as on-site parking would drop to 16 spaces.
The landscaping in the front of the building is also somewhat unkempt, as seen in
the picture to the left. As part of this approval, a condition is recommended to
require a landscape plan for the front area, including foundation landscaping as
required by the zoning code.
The petitioner has indicated that the exterior will be well lit, and have security
cameras located to ensure safety of the participants. A condition of this approval
will be that the building permit application include lighting and photometric details
for code compliant lighting, and that approved lights be installed prior to
occupancy.
No building signage is being proposed at this time. Any signage that is requested
at a later date will be required to comply with existing zoning regulations.
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STANDARDS AND FINDINGS OF FACT:
The Rolling Meadows Zoning Code authorizes variations and special uses when
the Planning and Zoning Commission holds a public hearing and makes a
recommendation, and after the City Council approves an ordinance, which
includes evidence that the proposed variation and special use makes “findings of
fact” on each of the standards listed in the Zoning Ordinance. The standards and
findings of fact for variations and special uses are discussed in more detail below.
Variation Standards
Standard 1: Unique physical condition: The presence of unique physical
conditions related to the property that create a hardship or practical
difficulty for the applicant to meet the established requirements of this
chapter. The applicant must evidence how such unique hardship or
practical difficulty is more impactful to meeting the requirements of this
chapter than a mere inconvenience.
Findings:
The lot was developed with a manufacturing building, which required significantly
less parking than the use being proposed. Most of the manufacturing buildings in
the City were developed the same way. Adaptive reuse of these properties will
require some creative thinking. In this case, however, the building was purchased
prior to understanding zoning requirements. Additional parking on site beyond
the proposed 20 parking spaces is not practical. Additional off-site parking might
be possible, if needed in the future, but would require additional expense by the
applicant, and zoning approval process.
Standard 2: Impact: Granting a variance will not substantially impact use
and enjoyment of adjacent or nearby properties by impairing an adequate
supply of light and air, increasing the risk from fire or other public safety
hazard, or diminishing property values. To mitigate impacts, the variance
should be the least amount of relief required to accomplish the proposed
development.
Findings:
Based on the petitioner’s submittal, the only cars necessary on site during
training are for coaches and staff. Participants are all under the age of 14 years
old, and parents will not be allowed to watch sessions, meaning there will be no
need for them to park or wait on site. Pickup and drop off of the students remains
a concern for site safety. If the on-site circulation is not properly managed or
exceeds the proposal, impacts to surrounding businesses could be seen. It is
necessary to condition the granting of this special use on occupancy of only the
eastern half of the building, and on the successful implementation of the
petitioner’s plan. Revocation of the special use might be necessary if on-site
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parking and staging of cars on the property is not remediated or alternate off-site
parking arrangements are not secured.
Standard 3: Not self-imposed: The conditions creating the hardship or
practical difficulty are a result of application of this chapter, and not selfimposed, having been created by the applicant or by another on behalf of
the applicant, or in furtherance of an opportunity for additional profit.
Findings:
The building is being purchased as-is, having been constructed with the existing
building and parking. The parking is being modified to be more code compliant,
but there is no room on site to expand parking. The building was purchased fully
before zoning could be fully examined and discussed.
Standard 4: Use of property: Use of the property possible under the
standards of this chapter, without receiving the requested variance, would
deprive the property owner of substantial rights commonly enjoyed by
owners of other lots subject to the same provisions. This standard
acknowledges that application of zoning standards may create somewhat
increased development costs; which do not constitute, in and of
themselves, a hardship.
Findings:
With the new zoning code in effect, the use of the building as it is currently
developed will not be possible due to parking deficit. The parking requirements
for almost any use will greatly exceed the available parking on site. The only
other remedy would be to completely demolish the building and develop the site
with a smaller building and more parking. This is overly burdensome on any
potential user, and not expected of every property in the area. However, there
are uses that could more easily fit their parking on site, and sites that could more
easily fit this user.
Standard 5: Community character: Granting a variance will not impair the
public health, safety, morals, comfort, or welfare of the community. Further,
said variance shall not significantly alter or impact the essential character
or trend of development in the general area, including characteristics such
as building height and setback, traffic management, landscaping, building
orientation, and established aesthetic standards.
Findings:
The petitioner is requesting a use allowed by the zoning code as a special use,
though very different from other users in the area. The parking variance will likely
not impact any other users in the area, provided site management is done
correctly and the conditions of this approval are met.
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Special Use Standards
All special uses are required to show evidence that the standards listed in the Code
are met. Each standard is listed below in bold, with the finding for that standards
listed in italics.
Standard 1: Potential impact: The special use shall not unduly impact
adjacent or nearby properties or the general health, safety, and welfare of
the general area and overall community. Impacts to be considered include
ingress and egress to the site, potential traffic impacts from cars and
trucks, and impacts to the appearance and character of the area.
Findings:
Based on the submittal from the petitioner, traffic impacts should be minimal. The
majority of sessions will occur during the colder months, and largely off-hours for
most businesses in the area. This does not count deliveries that may be occurring
during these off-hours. The site is proposed to have one-way traffic, which is
required to accommodate more parking on site. Consideration should be given
to how parents waiting to pick up or drop off their children will locate on the site,
since overflow from the site onto Edison Place could potentially cause negative
impacts to neighboring businesses.
Standard 2: Consistency: The proposed special use shall be in keeping
with the recommendations and intent of the City's Comprehensive Plan,
Official Map, and all other plans and policies adopted by the city.
Findings:
Indoor athletic facilities are permitted in this area by special use. It is the intent
of the Comprehensive Plan that this area remain light manufacturing, though it
acknowledges that adaptive reuse of some of our buildings is needed.
Standard 3: Trend of development: Special uses should be a logical
extension of the trend of development in the area around the subject site
and not interfere with the use and development of adjacent or nearby
properties.
Findings:
There will be some on-site improvements, including restriping, modifications to
the building, and replacement of the asphalt. The type of use proposed is in
keeping with the intent of the zoning code.
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Standard 4: Public facilities: Adequate public facilities and services shall
be available to serve the special use and the property on which it is located;
including, without limitation, storm water, sanitary sewer, water service,
public safety service, and waste disposal services.
Findings:
Existing utilities are sufficient to accommodate this use.
Standard 5: Site design: The on-site development design shall be
understandable to users, safe, and maintainable in terms of road and
pedestrian patterns, preserve natural features and incorporate such
features into a maintainable development, and provide adequate parking,
loading, and site maintenance.
Findings:
The traffic flow is proposed to be one-way, with signage and pavement markings
to aid. The pickup/drop off area is located in such a way as to block access to
both handicapped parking spaces. There is no room on site for parents who have
picked up or dropped off their students to go around those still waiting to do so,
so traffic and queueing will need to be monitored very carefully and not be
allowed to overflow onto Edison Place.
STAFF SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATION:
Indoor athletic facilities are permitted in the zoning code as special uses. It is
important to evaluate the special use to make sure intended occupants can access
and maneuver on the site safely, and that the use can exist harmoniously with
adjoining uses.
The proposed use is different from light manufacturing businesses in the area, yet
there are very few improvements that can be made to the site to allow the site to
operate more like a “commercial” rather than an industrial site. The on-site traffic
flow and parking provided are concerning to staff, and will need to be carefully
monitored to ensure continued compliance with the conditions of approval. Any
approval granted will be limited to the proposal currently received, and does not
allow for expansion of the business, or any additional tenant into the western half
of the building. Any future expansion will require additional process and strict
scrutiny.
Staff has outlined several technical concerns about this use and how it is intended
to operate on this property. Parking and circulation is inadequate if/when the site
becomes fully occupied or otherwise not operated as intended by the applicant.
The special use can only be successful if the site is effectively managed. Staff has
therefore enumerated several conditions of approval, and recommends approval
of the special use only if the applicant continues to satisfy all conditions.
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Three sample motions are provided below as guidance to the Planning and Zoning
Commission.
1. Recommendation to approve
Based on the submitted petition and testimony presented, I make a motion that
the Rolling Meadows Planning and Zoning Commission adopt the findings for
a special use and variance listed in the staff report prepared for the April 5,
2022 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, and recommend to City
Council approval of the variation to reduced required parking from 44 parking
spaces to 20 parking space, and authorization of a special use to allow an
indoor soccer field for Legion, Inc, subject to the following conditions:
1. This approval shall be null and void if permits are not applied for within two
(2) months of City Council approval, and work completed within one year.
2. The special use and variation shall be null and void unless building and site
improvements are in substantial conformance with the representations,
plans and specifications prepared by DAEdalus, Inc. and dated 3/8/2022,
pursuant to proper building permit review and approval by the City, except
as follows:
a. The three overhead doors on the north end of the building shall be
removed and filled by building material similar to existing material.
b. The depressed loading dock and overhead door on the north elevation
shall either be removed and restored with sod, or an appropriate safety
barrier, as approved by the City Engineer, shall be installed to separate
the western drive aisle from the depressed loading dock.
c. The drop off area shall be moved to the east and out of conflict with the
proposed handicapped parking spaces.
d. All pavement shall be ground and overlaid with new asphalt as approved
by the City Engineer prior to striping.
e. Code compliant lighting and photometric plans shall be provided.
f. A landscaping plan for the area in front of the building shall be submitted
as part of the permit, and shall include designs for foundation
landscaping as required by the zoning code.
3. Occupancy of the building shall not be allowed until all building and site
improvements have been completed by the applicant and approved by the
City.
4. No use of the western half of the building (roughly 13,000 square feet) or
remaining rooms in the eastern half is permitted, either expansion or
additional user, unless Owner secures additional zoning variations or offsite parking as required by the Zoning Ordinance.
5. The special use and variance shall be null and void upon notification by the
City of any of the following conditions:
a. Cars on the site that are not parked in parking spaces block the drive
aisle for more than ten minutes.
b. Cars waiting for athletes using the facility wait or park on Edison.
6. This approval is explicitly for the petitioner’s business as presented. This
approval shall become null and void if the petitioner changes their model to
13

accommodate competitive games or matches instead of practice space
only, includes older, driving-age athletes, or allows parents to observe the
practices, unless owner seeks and receives an amendment to their special
use.
7. This approval is exclusively for zoning, and shall not be interpreted to waive
any requirements of the building code due to the proposed change in
occupancy.
8. The approval of this special use and variance are specifically for an indoor
soccer field for Legion, Inc. The approval shall become null and void on
transference of the property or business license.
2. Recommendation to approve with modifications
Use the framework above, but modify, add, or delete conditions.
3. Recommendation to deny
Vote no on either motion above. Should the Commission decide to not
recommend approval of this petition, staff requests an additional motion
recommending to City Council that if they should choose to approve this
petition, the conditions herein provided remain part of that approval.
Respectfully Submitted,
_____________________________
Elizabeth Kwandras
Interim Superintendent of Community Development
Attachments:
Exhibit 1: Petitioner’s Application and Materials Submitted
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APPLICATION TO APPEAR BEFORE THE
CITY OF ROLLING MEADOWS
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION
(GLVRQ3ODFH5ROOLQJ0HDGRZV,OOLQRLV
Property's Commonly Known Address: ______________________________________________

Real Estate Tax Number: __________________________________
/HJLRQ,QF
Owner/Developer's Name: ________________________________________________________
.LULO,YDQRY
Petitioner's Name: ______________________________________________________________
______________________________________
_______
(please
( le
(p
leas
asse print)
prin
nt)
Petitioner's Signature: ___________________________________________________________
______________
_ _____________
________________
__
/HH 6WUHHW
/HH6WUHHW
Petitioner’s Address: ____________________________________________________________
'HV3ODLQHV
,OOLQRLV

City: __________________________________
State: ________________
Zip: __________

NLULO#GDHGDOXVLQFXV
Phone: _____________________
Fax: ___________________ Email: __________________
Interest of Petitioner: (check one)
Owner

Lessee(s)

Contract Purchaser

; Agent

Note: If you are not the owner, you must supply the owner's written authorization.

Description of Request:
6SHFLDOXVHIRUDQHZLQGRRUVRFFHUILHOGIDFLOLW\LQH[LVWLQJPDQXIDFWRULQJEXLOGLQJ
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
.LULO,YDQRY
Contact Person: ________________________________________________________________
(please print)
/HH6WUHHW
Contact Person’s Address: ________________________________________________________
'HV3ODLQHV

,OOLQRLV
City: ___________________________
State: ________________
Zip: _________________

NLULO#GDHGDOXVLQFXV
Phone: ___________________
Fax: ________________ Email: ________________________

Indoor Soccer Field at 3660 Edison Pl
We strive to be a youth soccer club known for providing quality programming across all
age groups and playing levels, as well as consistently developing highly skillful and intelligent
players capable of competing at the highest level of the game and in life.We are highly motivated
to change the culture of soccer here in the U.S. and in our local communities. We want to
develop our players to become the best soccer players they can become as well as people of great
character. Legion FC’s staffs are highly qualified with many years of experience in local youth
soccer. Our staff can help provide support and resources to enhance player’s experience.
In order to help with accomplishingall the above and more we need an indoor soccer
facility.
The indoor soccer field that we are planning to build will be used for our youthsoccer
club- Legion FC. We are providing training sessions and programs for ages 5 to 14 years old.
Players will be dropped off and picked up by their parents. Parents will be not allowed to wait at
the parking lot. There will be designated areas for the drops off/picks up.Currently we have 8
teams with approximately 100 players. One training session is 1 hr long and up to 20 people at
the same time including two coaches. We will have one coach that always helps the kids walking
in and out of the facility. There will be 30minutes between training sessions to avoid traffic.
Each team has 2 training sessions per week with some ages combining training sessions. Hours
of operations will be 4:30pm to 9:30pm weekdays and 9am to 12pm on weekends. All areas will
be properly lit inside and outside the facility as well as have cameras installed around the facility.
All 5 overhead doors will be removed and same siding will be installed.

New Indoor Soccer Field
3660 Edison Place, Rolling Meadows, Illinois
Satelite
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General Notes
1.

GENERAL NOTES SUPERCEDE ALL SIMILAR NOTES IN DRAWINGS BY ARCHITECT OR OTHER DISCIPLINES.

2.

DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS, DIMENSIONS SHALL GOVERN. LARGE SCALE DETAILS SHALL GOVERN OVER
SMALL SCALE DETAILS.

3.

WHEREVER GENERAL NOTES, LEGENDS & OTHER DISCRIPTIONS APPEAR ON ONE DRAWING THEY ARE
APPLICABLE TO ALL DRAWINGS OF THE SAME TYPE.

4.

GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS TO COORDINATE ALL WORK WITH DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS AND PROJECT
MANUAL.

5.

THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE ALL LABOR, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT AS REQUIRED TO
PERFORM THE WORK OF THIS PROJECT.

6.

THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL THOROUGHLY REVIEW AND CHECK THE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS,
PROJECT MANUAL AND ANY OTHER CONTRACT DOCUMENTS PRIOR TO PRECEDING WITH THE INSTALLATION
OF ANY OR ALL WORKS. ANY DISCREPANCY BETWEEN THE ARCHITECT'S AND ENGINEER'S DRAWINGS,
SPECIFICATIONS, DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS WILL BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE ARCHITECT
AND OWNER FOR CLARIFICATION PRIOR TO PROCEEDING WITH THE RELATED WORK. ANY WORK INSTALLED
IN CONFLICT WITH THE ARCHITECTURAL AND ENGINEERING DRAWINGS SHALL BE CORRECTED BY THE
GENERAL CONTRACTOR AT THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR'S OWN EXPENSE AND AT NO ADDITIONAL EXPENSE
TO THE ARCHITECT OR OWNER.

Sheet Number
A0.0
A0.1
A1.0
A2.0

Sheet Name
Cover Sheet
Site Plan
Floor Plans
Elevations

Project Description
Project consist of a new indoor soccer field facility in an existing maufacturing building. Restripping of existing rear
ashpalt parking area.

KIRIL GEORGIEV IVANOV
LICENSED ARCHITECT: 001.023020
EXPIRATION DATE: 11/30/2022

GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS TO VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS SHOWN ON SITE PLANS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION
OF WORK. SHOULD THERE BE ANY DISCREPANCY BETWEEN ARCHITECTURAL SITE PLAN AND PLAT OF
SURVEY (IF INCLUDED IN SET), THE SURVEY DIMENSIONS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE.

8.

GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT UPON DISCOVERING REQUIRED
INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR REPAIRS NOT CALLED OUT IN CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.

9.

GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY ARCHITECT OF ANY UNFORESEEN JOB CONDITIONS
WHICH MIGHT AFFECT PROJECT COSTS. EXTRA WORK AND/OR COSTS MUST BE APPROVED IN WRITING
PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION OF SUCH WORK.

10.

ALL MATERIALS AND METHODS OF INSTALLATION SHALL CONFORM TO THE MANUFACTURERS
SPECIFICATIONS AND INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS FOR ITS INTENDED USE.

Applicable Building Codes

11.

GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL SECURE & PAY FOR ANY AND ALL NECESSARY PERMITS FOR THIS PROJECT
EXCEPT THOSE EXEMPTED IN THE SPECIFICATIONS.

Construction:

2009 International Building Code
2009 International Existing Building Code

Mechanical:

2009 International Mechanical Code

Electrical:

2008 National Fire Protection Association; National Electrical Code

Plumbing:

2014 Illinois State Plumbing Code

Fire:

2009 International Fire Code

13.

GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL OBSERVE ALL LOCAL, STATE AND FEDERAL REGULATIONS AND BUILDING
CODES AS LISTED IN THE PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS GOVERNING THIS WORK INCLUDING THOSE FOR DUST
& NOISE CONTROL AND FOR THE LEGAL & PROPER DISPOSAL OF ALL DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION
MATERIALS. IN CASE OF CONFLICT BETWEEN JURISDICTIONAL CODES, THE MORE STRINGENT SHALL APPLY.
THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL SUPERVISE AND DIRECT THE WORK USING HIS/HER BEST SKILL AND
ATTENTION. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR AND HAVE COMPLETE
CHARGE OF CONSTRUCTION MEANS, METHODS, TECHNIQUES, SEQUENCES, PROCEDURES AND
PERSONNEL SAFETY PROGRAMS FOR COORDINATING ALL PORTIONS OF THE SCOPE OF THIS WORK.
NEITHER THE ARCHITECT NOR THE OWNER OR THEIR AGENTS WILL ASSUME ANY OF THESE
RESPONSIBILITIES AND THEY SHALL BE "HELD HARMLESS" FROM ANY LIABILITIES THAT MAY ARISE AS A
RESULT OF THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR'S FAILURE, NEGLECT OR OMISSION TO PROPERLY UPHOLD THESE
RESPONSIBILITIES AS DESCRIBED HEREIN AND IN OTHER DOCUMENTS OF HIS CONTRACT.

14.

THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING IN HIS/HER BASE BID: ANY AND ALL WORK
NEEDING TO BE DONE AFTER HOURS OR ON WEEKENDS, ANY WORK REQUIRING SHUTDOWNS AND ANY
WORK THAT MAY CONSTITUTE OVERTIME.

15.

THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH THE ARCHITECT AND OWNER FOR A LOCATION AT
WHICH TO STORE CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS AND DELIVERED ITEMS. UPON RECEIPT OF ALL DELIVERED
ITEMS INCLUDING CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS, THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL ASSUME FULL
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ALL SUCH ITEMS DUE TO THEFT OR DAMAGE BY ANY AND ALL MEANS.
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Owner:

M-1 Manufacturing District

GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL INSURE THAT ALL EXISTING OR NEW INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR DRAINS ON
SITE SHALL NOT BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION CLEAN UP OR DISPOSAL OF ANY LIQUID RELATED TO
DEMOLITION OR CONSTRUCTION.

Front Yard Setback:

Existing to remain

Side Yard Setback:

Existing to remain

ALL FINISHED PARTITIONS ARE DIMENSIONED FROM FINISHED FACE OF WALL TO FINISHED FACE OF WALL,
UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE. GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL V.I.F. ALL FINISHED DIMENSIONS CALLED OUT
IN DRAWINGS.

Rear Yard Setback:

Existing to remain

Floor Area Ratio:

Existing to remain

18.

SEE STANDARD ARCHITECTURAL SYMBOLS FOR SYMBOLS USED ON ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS. SEE
ENGINEERING DRAWINGS FOR ENGINEERING SYMBOLS.

Max. Bldg. Coverage: Existing to remain

19.

GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATION OF SUBSONTRACTORS FOR LAYOUT
AND INSTALLATION OF MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL, PLUMBING AND ALL OTHER EQUIPMENT TO INSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH BUILDING CODES AND TO AVOID INTERFERENCE WITH ALL EXISTING AND PROPOSED
BUILDING COMPONENTS.

17.

20.

21.

AFTER THE JOB IS IN PROGRESS, "CHANGE ORDERS" MUST BE APPROVED BY THE ARCHITECT AND OWNER
IN WRITING PRIOR TO STARTING THE WORK TO BE CHANGED. WORK PERFORMED WITHOUT THE PROPER
ADVANCE APPROVAL MAY NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR PAYMENT.

Max. Elevation:

Existing to remain

Occupancy:

48 Occupants

Construction Type:

Existing to remain

Area of Work:

8636 SF - New Indoor Soccer Field Area

3660 Edison Place, Rolling Meadows, Illinois

REVISIONS
REV.

DETAILS MARKED "TYPICAL" OR "TYP." SHALL APPLY IN ALL SIMILAR CASES UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON
THE DRAWING.

22.

NO SUBSTITUTION OR DEVIATIONS FROM THE DRAWINGS OR SPECIFICATIONS SHALL BE ALLOWED WITHOUT
PRIOR WRITTEN APPROVAL FROM THE ARCHITECT AND OWNER.

23.

FOR THE ENTIRE DURATION OF DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION, GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE
ONGOING AND CONPREHENSIVE PEDESTRIAN PROTECTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH OSHA REQUIREMENTS
AND GUIDELINES AND ALL LOCAL AND FEDERAL LAWS TO INSURE PUBLIC SAFETY.

24.

CARE WILL BE GIVEN TO THE PROTECTION OF THE EXISTING UTILITY LINES DURING DEMOLITION AND NEW
CONSTRUCTION.

25.

CONTRACTOR SHALL MINIMIZE NOISE AND CONGESTION AS MUCH AS POSSIBLE DURING DEMOLITION SO AS
TO NOT TO INTERFERE WITH OTHER DWELLINGS IN THE UNIT UNDER CONSTRUCTION OR OTHER ADJACENT
STRUCTURES.

26.

DISCONNECTION OF AND/OR RELOCATION OF EXISTING EQUIPMENT SHALL BE AT SUCH TIMES THAT
OPERATIONS OF THE EXISTING FACILITY WILL BE UNAFFECTED.

27.

THE OWNER SHALL REMOVE ALL PORTABLE EQUIPMENT TO BE RETAINED BEFORE THE CONTRACTOR
STARTS WORK.

28.

Legion Inc

Building and Zoning Information
Zoning District:

16.

WHERE MECHANICAL, PLUMBING AND ELECTRICAL WORK ARE REMOVED, ALL LINES CONDUITS, DUCTS,
ETC. SHALL BE CAPPED WITHIN THE WALLS, ABOVE FINISH CEILING OR BELOW FINISHED FLOOR LINE. SEE
MECHANICAL, PLUMBING AND ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

29.

GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR MAINTAINING ALL EXITS SUCH THAT THEY ARE CLEAR
AND IN FULLY OPERABLE CONDITION DURING CONSTRUCTION.

30.

GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE PROTECTION AROUND INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR SURFACES AND
PASSAGES CORRESPONDING TO THE PATH OF TRAVEL FOR THE REMOVAL OR RUBBISH FROM THE
CONSTRUCTION SITE.

(DESIGN FIRM LIC. #184.007234)
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12.
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DATE
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Drawing Title:

Cover Sheet

Project Title:

Architect's Certification

New Indoor Soccer
Field

I hereby certify that these plans were prepared under my direction and to the best of my knowledge and belief conform to
the codes and ordinances of Rolling Meadows, Illinois.

3660 Edison Place, Rolling Meadows, Illinois
Drawing Number:

Date November 30, 2021
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one way

27' - 0"

17' - 10 1/2"

one way
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New pick-up & drop-off zone
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New fire lane
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New Pick-up & Drop-off
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240.00'

one
way
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5
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New ADA parking signage

18'

- 0"

6

17'
Existing concrete filled
bollards, typ.
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Existing asphalt
surface

- 4"
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KIRIL GEORGIEV IVANOV
LICENSED ARCHITECT: 001.023020
EXPIRATION DATE: 11/30/2022

Existing asphalt surface

Pavement arrow
indicates direction
of vehicular travel,
typ.

9

10

Brick and Metal Commercial Building
#3660 Edison Place

Parking Required

Offices, Professional and Business

4 spaces per 1,000 square feet

Indoor athletic facilities

5 per 1,000 square feet

Offices, Professional and Business

614 SF

Indoor athletic facilities

8022 SF

Required Parking Spaces
Offices, Professional and Business

4 Parking Spaces

Indoor athletic facilities

40 Parking Spaces

Total Parking Spaces

Pavement arrow
indicates direction
of vehicular travel,
typ.

279.
04'

one way

248.82'

11

12

Land Use

SF per Land Use

279.
04'

248.82'

one
way

Rem
ove
exi
Existing asphalt surface

Parking Requirements
Off-Street Parking Ratio Requirements (per table 4-4)

sting
7

park
ing s
tall

Remove existing concrete slab

one way

8

Per Ordinance

44 Parking Spaces

Actual On-Site Parking

20 Parking Spaces

Leased adjacent property parking

24 Parking Spaces

Owner:

Legion Inc

one way

Brick and Metal Commercial Building
#3660 Edison Place
Remove existing chain link
fence gate

3660 Edison Place, Rolling Meadows, Illinois
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one way
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Site Plan
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50.25'

Date:

Drawing Title:
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Existing loading dock
with concrete walls

Project Number:

Existing sod
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5.00'

Existing sod

Project Title:

New Indoor Soccer
Field

Existing direct vehicular access
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Existing direct vehicular access
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Existing sod

Existing sod
3660 Edison Place, Rolling Meadows, Illinois
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Goal line

Infill (4) existing garage
doors with 6" metal
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cladding to match
existing adjacent
cladding

Penalty arch

50' - 0"
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Tenant Area
124
Player bench

2
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Referee crease

Owner:

Legion Inc

Player bench
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Floor Plans
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Project Title:

IT Room

New Indoor Soccer
Field

Waiting Room

Office
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Men Locker

Men Locker
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Office
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Waiting Room
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Office

Waiting Room

Vestibule

Occupants = 2 persons

Office

Office

Office
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44' - 0"
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Drawing Title:
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Floor 1
1' - 0"
Grade
0"

2

East Elevation
1/8" = 1'-0"

Infill existing garage doors with 6" metal
stud wall with metal cladding to match
existing adjacent cladding
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New Indoor Soccer
Field
3660 Edison Place, Rolling Meadows, Illinois
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